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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Venture Communications Cooperative, Inc. ("Venture" or "plaintiff')

brings this action against defendants James Valley Cooperative Telephone Company ("James 

Valley") and Northern Valley Communications, LLC ("Northern Valley") ( collectively 

"defendants") for compensatory damages in excess of $20 million, plus punitive damages. 

Plaintiff and defendants are Local ·Exchange Carriers ("LECs"). Venture is a rural incumbent LEC 

with approximately 12,000 customers across more than 8,100 square miles of South Dakota. 

Plaintiff and defendants rely on federal funds to make it economi�ally feasible to provide voice 

and broadband services to customers in their authorized sparsely populated service areas. This 

case arises because defendants have engaged in intentional unlawful conduct for the sole purpose 

of harming plaintiff. Defendants took intentional, deliberate, and malicious actions to assure that 

plaintiff was denied approximately $20 million in federal funds to which plaintiff was (is) entitled. 

As detailed in this complaint, defendants accomplished this by intentionally, deliberately, 

fraudulently, and maliciously misrepresenting critical information to the Federal Communications 

Commission ("FCC") for the sole unlawful purpose of harming plaintiff. When defendants made 

the relevant representations to the FCC, defendants knew the representations to be false and, 

nevertheless, defendants proceeded. 

2. The FCC offers federal funds ("support funds") to eligible telecommunications

companies to support the federal government's policy of providing quality and affordable voice 

and broadband services in rural, insular, and high cost areas. Defendants are sophisticated parties 

with very substantial experience and deep familiarity with the FCC' s funding process. Relying 

upon and using that knowledge, defendants knew how to prevent plaintiff from receiving federal 

support funds (approximately $20 million) to which plaintiff was (is) entitled: defendants 
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intentionally, deliberately, and maliciously submitted false information to the FCC, and defendants 

did so for the sole purpose of blocking plaintiffs right to receive support funds for voice and 

broadband services plaintiff was providing in portions of its incumbent service area, some of which 

plaintiff has been serving for more than fifty years. Defendants were not competing for these 

funds; rather, defendants' sole objective - an objective which, unfortunately, they succeeded in 

accomplishing - was to have the FCC deny plaintiff the support funds to which plaintiff was (is) 

entitled. 

3. Defendants corrupted a critical federal regulatory process. FCC support funds are

an entitlement to which plaintiff was (is) entitled because of the service plaintiff provides. 

Defendants weaponized the FCC's regulatory process by making intentional false statements in 

their regulatory filings with the deliberate and malicious intent and exclusive purpose of harming 

plaintiff. 

4. Plaintiff, as an incumbent provider in sparsely populated areas of South Dakota,

relies on the FCC's federal support funds to be able to provide voice and broadband services in 

the areas that are the subject of this lawsuit. Defendants well understood that the FCC relies upon 

submissions from competitors offering both broadband and voice service in their service area to 

determine whether to provide federal support funds. Defendants knew that the FCC would deny 

plaintiff the support funds to which plaintiff was (is) entitled if another provider ( one of the 

defendants, for example) represented to the FCC that it was providing or had the ability to provide 

services at the speeds mandated by the FCC. Undeterred by the truth and motivated only by their 

overwhelming unrestrained unlawful intent to harm plaintiff, defendants intentionally, 

deliberately, and maliciously submitted a knowingly false filing to the FCC. Defendants' FCC 

filing represented, under oath, fully knowing the representations were directly contrary to fact, that 
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defendants provided service in areas for which plaintiff was (is) entitled to funding. Defendants' 

wrongful, deliberately untruthful scheme worked precisely as defendants intended; that is, the FCC 

denied plaintiff support funds it was due, believing, because of defendants' knowingly false sworn 

statements, that defendants were providing service in areas where they were not. 

5. Defendants' false statements to the FCC were made knowingly, intentionally,

deliberately, and maliciously; defendants' statements were not a mistake, nor were they the result 

of simple carelessness; rather, they were the result of deliberate, planned, intentional action. 

6. The material facts of this case are largely, if not entirely, undisputed. For example,

there is no dispute that plaintiff is entitled to the support funds it was denied; there is no dispute 

that defendants' submissions to the FCC were false; there is no remotely plausible "innocent 

mistake" explanation for defendants' false FCC submissions; and finally, there is no dispute that 

plaintiff suffered significant quantifiable harm proximately caused by defendants' wrongful 

conduct. Specifically, plaintiff lost more than $20 million in support funds. 

7. Beyond the more than $20 million in compensatory damages to which plaintiff is

entitled, plaintiff is entitled also to substantial punitive damages. Defendants' conduct was 

oppressive, intolerable, and transparently driven by malice and spite. Defendants must be held 

accountable for their outrageous behavior and accountability here demands punitive damages. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

8. Plaintiff Venture Communications Cooperative, Inc. (previously defined as

"Venture" or "plaintiff') is a South Dakota cooperative. Its principal place of business is located 

at 218 Commercial Avenue S.E., Highmore, SD 57345. Plaintiff is an incumbent Local Exchange 

Carrier (previously defined as "LEC") serving rural areas in central and eastern South Dakota. 
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9. James Valley Cooperative Telephone Company (previously defined as "James

Valley" or "defendant") is a South Dakota cooperative; its principal place of business is located at 

235 East 1st Avenue, Groton, South Dakota 57445. Defendant James Valley is an incumbent LEC 

in South Dakota and provides voice and broadband services in various census blocks in South 

Dakota. 

10. Northern Valley Communications, LLC (previously defined as "Northern Valley"

or "defendant") is a limited liability company that was formed under the laws of South Dakota; its 

principal place of business is located at 235 East pt Avenue, Groton, South Dakota 57445. 

Defendant Northern Valley provides voice and broadband services in various census blocks in 

South Dakota as a Competitive Local Exchange Carrier ("CLEC"). Northern Valley is a 100% 

owned by James Valley. 

11. Pursuant to 2 8 U.S. C. § 13 31, this Court has federal question jurisdiction over this

case. Plaintiffs claims include a claim arising under federal law, specifically that defendants 

violated the Federal Communications Act, (the "Act"), 47 U.S.C. § 151 et seq., and plaintiff is 

entitled to relief under 47 U.S.C. § 206. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), this Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over plaintiffs state law claims. 

12. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) (1) and (2), and 28

U.S.C. § 122. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The FCC's Form 477 And The Support Fund Award Process

13. As facilities-based broadband providers, plaintiff and defendants are required to

submit twice a year to the FCC, the federal agency which regulates interstate and international 

communications by radio, television, wire, satellite and cable, a filing on "Form 477." See 47 
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C.F.R. § 1.7001. Form 477 submissions inform the FCC of the locations, or census blocks, in

which a provider offers voice and broadband data services, as well as the broadband speeds (i.e., 

download and uploads speeds, in Megabits per second (Mbps)) offered in particular locations. The 

FCC uses this Form 477 information to determine whether FCC federal "support funds'' should 

and will be made available to providers in service areas where the economics would be highly 

unattractive, if not prohibitive, to a LEC. 

14. Broadband providers maintain an Operational Support System ("OSS") or Billing

System that contains detailed information about each customer and potential customer. In addition 

to the customer's E911 address, the broadband provider's OSS contains information about the 

customer's census block, availability of broadband service, upstream and downstream subscription 

speeds, technology used to serve the customer and other information. Broadband providers' OSS 

systems can export customer information to assist the broadband provider in preparing its FCC 

Form 477. 

15. Since the file uploaded to the FCC is in the form of a standard comma-delimited

text file, the broadband provider is able to review the file and make any necessary corrections 

before uploading the file. The provider then uploads the information to the FCC's portal. In 

addition to identifying the census blocks where the provider has the capability of providing service, 

the provider also is required to provide information regarding broadband subscription and voice 

subscription at the census tract level. 

16. Mobile providers must also provide a shapefile (created from real data) to the FCC

showing their mobile broadband and mobile coverage area. 

1 7. In light of the manner in which providers (defendants) assemble the data for the 

Form 477, to represent (or misrepresent) to the FCC that the provider provides voice and 
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broadband services in an area where it does not requires that the provider manually override (that 

is, alter or change) the technical data. 

18. A company's Form 477's "Certifying Official" certifies that the official has

examined the information contained in the Form 4 77 and that, to the best of his/her knowledge, 

information and belief, all statements of fact are true and correct. It is a crime, punishable by fine 

or imprisonment, for a person to make willful false statements in a Form 477. See 47 U.S.C. § 

220(e). 

19. In 2011, the FCC adopted the Connect America Fund ("CAF"), a category of

funding available to providers (LE Cs) to increase service in high-cost and under-served areas. 

CAF funding was part of the FCC's comprehensive reform of the Universal Service Fund and the 

Intercarrier Compensation System to accelerate broadband deployment. CAF funding is critical 

to support plaintiff ( and others) in providing voice and broadband services in areas that otherwise 

would not have access to those services. 

20. The Alternative Connect America Cost Model ("A-CAM") is a method the FCC

uses to determine CAF support for broadband providers. The FCC initiated the first A-CAM 

offering (" A-CAM I") in 2016 and funding was available to rate-of-return ("RoR") carriers within 

their incumbent service area. Typically, these are small carriers serving the most rural areas of the 

country where the revenues are not sufficient to support the network needed to provide voice and 

broadband services. The FCC determined that carriers receiving A-CAM support should not 

receive support for census blocks where at least one customer can receive broadband from an 

unsubsidized carrier. 

21. For A-CAM I, the FCC did not off er any CAF funding to a RoR carrier for any

census block in which an unsubsidized entity (provider) was already providing broadband service 
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at the minimum speed of 10 Mbps download, 1 Mbps upload (10/1 Mbps), along with traditional 

voice service. 

22. The FCC initiated the second A-CAM offering ("A-CAM 11") at the end of 2018.

In that offering, the FCC did not offer any CAF funding to a RoR carrier for any census block in 

which an unsubsidized entity was already providing broadband service at the minimum speed of 

25 Mbps download, 3 Mbps upload (25/3 Mbps), along with traditional voice service. A-CAM II 

provides support funds to eligible companies for IO years. 

23. The FCC' s A-CAM I and A-CAM II support fund decisions were based on the

information submitted on providers' Form(s) 477. The information in these submissions provided 

the FCC with the factual basis on which it determined the need ( or not) for federal financial 

assistance to a provider to continue or broaden service in particular rural areas. 

24. In A-CAM I, the FCC had a procedure that allowed a party to challenge the content

of another provider's Form 477. The FCC eliminated this right or opportunity to challenge in A

CAM II. See FCC Order (December 13, 2018). Thus, providers seeking A-CAM II funding, 

including plaintiff, had no remedy at the FCC to challenge the contents or veracity of another 

provider's (defendants') Form 477 submission, and the FCC, for its part, was left with making A

CAM II funding decisions based solely on the provider-certified Form 477 filings. Defendants 

knew of this important change from A-CAM I ( where FCC had a challenge process) to A-CAM II 

(where FCC eliminated challenge process) as the FCC issued public notice of the change. 

B. Defendants' False A-CAM I Form 477 Statements

25. Defendants are sophisticated entities, counseled by sophisticated professionals,

with deep experience in FCC regulatory matters. This experience specifically includes almost 20 

years of extensive experience in drafting, filing, correcting, and challenging Form 477 filings. 
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Completing and submitting Forms 477 is familiar territory; defendants know how to complete 

Form 4 77 filings correctly and defendants know how to complete them incorrectly. When 

defendants prepared their A-CAM II Form 477 filing, prior experience with A-CAM I had 

sensitized them to the critical importance of completing the filing correctly and defendants were 

acutely aware of the consequences and harm caused by an incorrect or false submission. 

26. Defendants' (false) Form 477 in A-CAM II, the filing(s) which gives rise to the

present complaint, was not defendants' first offense. In or around 2015, the defendants 

misrepresented their voice and broadband capabilities on the Form 4 77 filing that was used as the 

basis for A-CAM I. There, defendants sought to do financial harm to their neighboring LECs and, 

perhaps, bolster their CAP funding application. 

27. In or around March 2016, the FCC issued an order stating that the agency "will not

make the offer of model based support to any carrier that has deployed [the minimally required 

speed at the time] broadband to 90 percent or more of its eligible locations in a state, based on June 

2015 FCC Form 477 data that has been submitted as of the date of this Order." In the Matter of 

Connect America Fund, WC Docket No. 10-90 and 14-58 at ,r 6_6 (March 30, 2016). 

28. In a subsequent order, the FCC explained its rationale for the new rules: "The

Commission also adopted a second eligibility limitation on the voluntary path to the model, 

concluding that any carrier that had deployed 10/1 broadband to 90% or more of its eligible 

locations in a state, based on June 2015 FCC Form 477 data ... would not be eligible for A-CAM 

support. The purpose of both restrictions was to target support to areas of greater need. The 

Commission deliberately adopted specific deadlines regarding the vintage of data to be used in 

those determinations so that carriers could not change their data after release in order to evade 

these restrictions. Moreover, the Commission intended that the force of the streamlined challenge 
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process would be on the data of competitors, not the incumbents, it intended to impose 

administrative closure to the incumbent data set." In the Matter of Connect America Fund, WC 

Docket No. 10-90 at ,r 12 (July 25, 2016). 

29. On April 28, 2016, Interstate Telecommunications Coop., Inc. ("ITC"), one of

defendants' competitors, filed an A-CAM Competitive Challenge with the FCC. In that challenge, 

ITC claimed that defendant Northern Valley "erroneously reported [census] blocks as ones in 

which it offers broadband service and, in the next release of the A-CAM (A-CAM I), these 359 

census blocks should not be shown as ones in which Northern Valley offers service as an 

unsubsidized competitor. Northern Valley has revised its Form 477 data." In the Matter of Connect 

America Fund, WC Docket No. 10-90 at p. 2 (A-CAM Competitive Challenge). 

30. After ITC "called out" defendant Northern Valley's misconduct m a formal

challenge proceeding, and in recognition that overstating its coverage areas reduced ITC's CAF 

funding, Northern Valley reversed field and admitted that it had provided the FCC with false 

information: "I verify that Northern Valley does not provide fixed wireless broadband service as 

an unsubsidized competitor in ITC's incumbent telephone company study area ... I verify that 

Northern Valley has revised its FCC Form 477 data on April 26, 2016 to accurately and correctly 

reflect the Company's service blueprint." In the Matter of Connect America Fund, WC Docket 

Nos. 10-90 and 14-58 at ,r 5 (Deel. of James Groft) (June 29, 2
1

016). 

31. Thus, defendants corrected their plainly inaccurate, misleading, and false data

submission only after they got caught. These misrepresentations would have had "significant 

financial repercussions" for ITC by reducing the CAF funding it was due. In the Matter of Connect 

America Fund, WC Docket Nos. 10-90 and 14-58 at ,r 5 (Deel. of James Groft) (June 29, 2016). 
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32. Defendants' actions in A-CAM I, including making false statements to the FCC

coupled with the understanding of the severe financial repercussions for another provider as a 

result of those misrepresentations, informed and directed defendants' actions in A-CAM II. 

Defendants knew, because of A-CAM I, how critically important it was for their Form 477 

submission to be accurate. Defendants also knew, again because of A-CAM I, the harm, damage, 

and injury defendants could ( and would) cause by an inaccurate Form 4 77 submission. As detailed 

below, defendants put their A-CAM I knowledge to work in A-CAM II to intentionally and 

deliberately include false information in their Form 477 submission fully knowing that doing so 

would harm, damage, and injure plaintiff. 

C. The Parties' Longstanding Disputes

3 3. Plaintiff and defendants are each part of a larger provider network known as South 

Dakota Network, LLC. ("SDN"). 

34. In March 2015, defendants filed an action against South Dakota Network, LLC and

the individual managers of SDN ("SDN Litigation"), including Randy Houdek, plaintiffVenture's 

CEO, for claims including tortious interference with prospective business opportunities, and for 

punitive damages. James Valley Cooperative Telephone Company, et al. v. South Dakota 

Network, LLC, et al., 06-Civ-15-000134 (Circuit Court for Brown County, South Dakota (March 

2015)). In their Second Amended Complaint filed in May 2016, defendants alleged that Mr. 

Houdek and other defendants "conspired in the fall of 2013 to interfere with the business 

relationship between [Northern Valley and a third party], and in the process deprive [Northern 

Valley] of this significant revenue source ... a plan that not only harmed [Northern Valley] but also 

violates the law." 
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35. During the highly contentious SDN litigation, defendants' CEO, Mr. James Groft,

aggressively attacked Mr. Houdek. The SDN Litigation, including the fact that defendants sued 

Mr. Houdek personally, foreshadows defendants' intentional misconduct which gives rise to this 

case. Defendants "leave no stone un-thrown"; they are clearly unwilling to put aside and move on 

from the animosity which animated the parties' earlier litigation. 

D. Defendants' False A-CAM II Filing

36. Defendant Northern Valley, an unsubsidized provider to census blocks in South

Dakota that plaintiff also serves (the "Overlap Areas"), filed in connection with A-CAM II Form 

477s in which it claimed (knowingly falsely) the ability to provide 25/3 Mbps broadband service 

to major portions of the Overlap Areas, a representation which, if true (which Northern Valley 

knew it was not), would make plaintiff ineligible for CAF funding for that census block. 

3 7. Based on defendants' (knowingly false) representations, FCC determined that the 

Overlap Areas were receiving adequate voice and broadband services from an unsubsidized 

provider and, therefore, the FCC would not provide funding to plaintiff for those areas. 

38. Defendants intentionally, deliberately, and maliciously misrepresented their ability

to provide voice and broadband. Defendants did not and do not provide voice in the overlap areas 

and were not-and are not-able to provide 25/3 Mbps broadband service to those areas. When 

defendants made contrary representations to the FCC, defendants knew those representations were 

false; defendants' knowing false misrepresentations were intentional, deliberate, and malicious; 

and defendants made their knowingly false misrepresentations to the FCC with the intent and 

purpose of harming plaintiff. 

3 9. Defendants became repeat off enders when they made their false statements to the 

FCC in A-CAM II. As discussed above, A-CAM II was a replay of what defendants had done in 
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A-CAM I and the lessons defendants had learned as a result of A-CAM I. Defendants knew,

because of A-CAM I that Form 477 submissions must be accurate or an otherwise eligible provider 

could be (would be) severely harmed by being blocked form receiving support funds. No 

mysterious "hidden hand" carelessly prepared defendants A-CAM II Form 477. To the contrary, 

defendants, armed with the foreknowledge gained from A-CAM I, deliberately, intentionally, and 

maliciously manipulated ( changed) the data generated by its electronic databases to produce a 

desired result. That desired result was the false representation that defendants provided service at 

required speeds in areas where they did not. 

40. Defendants A-CAM I experience eliminates "innocent mistake" as a remotely

plausible explanation for defendants' false statements to the FCC in A-CAM II. Because of A

CAM I, defendants, in A-CAM II, were on full notice and "high alert" with respect to the critical 

importance of accuracy in their Form 477 submission(s). After A-CAM I, to believe that 

defendants' false statements in A-CAM II were an "innocent mistake" would require a complete 

suspension of disbelief. Lightning struck twice here, in precisely the same place, only because 

defendants intentionally aimed the bolt. 

41. In A-CAM II, as in A-CAM I, defendants submitted a post-submission letter to the

FCC purporting to "clarify" their incorrect information. Mr. Groft, on behalf of defendants, once 

again advised the FCC that N orthem Valley "does not provide voice service as an unsubsidized 

competitor in the study areas served by incumbent .. . Venture Communications Cooperative." 

Groft Letter to FCC dated May 30, 2019. Mr. Groft submitted this letter knowing, of course, that 

the FCC had eliminated the challenge process and that the damage to Venture was irreversible. 

Mr. Graft's after-the-fact acknowledgment was, as defendants knew at the time, a pretextual 
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meaningless gesture and, even then, he failed to advise the FCC that Northern Valley did not - and 

could not- provide the required broadband service. 

42. But for defendants' misrepresentations, plaintiff would have received the A-CAM

II funding for the census blocks where defendants misrepresented their ability to provide voice 

and broadband. Plaintiff incurred substantial losses, in excess of $20 million, because it did not 

receive A-CAM II funding for census blocks to which it was entitled and which it would have 

received had it not been for defendants' false statements. 

E. Defendants Intended to Harm Plaintiff and Are Liable to Pay Punitive Damages

4 3. Defendants submitted false and inaccurate information on their Form 4 77 knowing 

that the FCC would rely upon the information. Defendants were motivated by oppression, fraud, 

malice, and spite; their purpose was to harm plaintiff and, sadly, they achieved their purpose. 

44. Defendants' improper, unlawful, intentional purpose was to interfere with

plaintiff's right to funds to which plaintiff was (is) entitled, notwithstanding the fact that 

defendants were not seeking the funds that plaintiff was seeking. This was not a "zero sum game" 

where defendants would "lose" if plaintiff "won"; here, only plaintiff could "win," and defendants, 

driven by malice and spite, knowingly submitted false information to the FCC to .prevent that from 

occurring. Defendants acted with malice, with an intent to defraud and to oppress and to 

intentionally and deliberately harm and damage plaintiff. 

45. Defendants' actions were driven by hatred or ill will toward plaintiff, and

defendants displayed a complete disregard for plaintiffs' rights. 

46. Defendants acted in the spirit of mischief or criminal indifference to its civil

obligation;s and demonstrated a total disregard for plaintiff's rights. 
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4 7. Defendants acted intentionally, deliberately, and willfully by mispresenting their 

voice and broadband capabilities for the purpose of preventing plaintiff from receiving A-CAM II 

funding. 

E. Plaintiff Loses Substantial Federal Funding

48. But for defendants' wrongful actions and deliberate false statements, plaintiff

would have received support funds for the services it provides in the census blocks at issue in this 

litigation. Defendants are the only "unsubsidized providers" listed in the respective census blocks. 

No federal funds were awarded to plaintiff in the census blocks for which defendants wrongfully 

claimed to have voice service and 25/3 Mbps broadband. Plaintiffs A-CAM II offering was 

reduced by over $2,000,000 annually for a period of ten years (a total loss in excess of$20 million). 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the Communications Act 47 U.S.C. § 151 et seq.) 

49. Plaintiff here adopts and incorporates by reference each and every preceding

paragraph, fact, and allegation as if each were here fully set forth. 

50. Defendants made willfully false statements to the FCC.

51. 47 U.S.C. § 220(e) provides that "any person who shall willfully make any false

entry in the accounts of any book of accounts or in any record or memoranda kept by any such 

carrier, or who shall willfully destroy, mutilate, alter, or by any other means or device falsify any 

such account, record, or memoranda, or who shall willfully neglect or fail to make full, true, and 

correct entries in such accounts, records, or memoranda of all facts and transactions appertaining 

to the business of the carrier, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be subject, upon 

conviction, to a fine of not less than $1,000 nor more than $5,000 or imprisonment for a term of 

not less than one year nor more than three years, or both such fine and imprisonment." 
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52. Making willful false statements on the Form 477 is punishable under 47 U.S.C. §

220(e). Here, defendants willfully made false statements on their Form 477s to the effect that they 

were able to provide voice and broadband in the Overlap Area at a speed sufficient to render that 

area ineligible for plaintiffs A-CAM II support funds. 

5 3. Defendants' misrepresentations directly and proximately caused the FCC to 

determine that it would not provide A-CAM II funding to plaintiff to service that area. But for 

defendants' misrepresentations, plaintiff would have received the A-CAM II funding, and because 

it did not, it incurred losses in an amount in excess of $20 million. 

54. Defendants acted with disregard for the governing FCC statute(s) and regulations

and with an indifference for their requirements. 

55. Defendants knowingly and intentionally committed an act in conscious disregard

for the rights of others (Venture). 

56. Unlawful conduct such as that described in 47 U.S.C. § 220(e) and detailed in this

complaint gives plaintiff a right of action against defendants for damages. See 47 U.S.C. § 206. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Tortious Interference With Business Expectancy) 

57. Plaintiff here adopts and incorporates by reference each and every preceding

paragraph, fact, and allegation as if each were here fully set forth. 

58. Plaintiff had a valid, sound, and legitimate business expectancy of receiving FCC

CAF funding to subsidize its services to the Overlap Area. This expectancy was not speculative. 

Plaintiff, without question, would have received the support funds. 

59. Defendants knew of plaintiffs legitimate business expectancy and intentionally,

deliberately, maliciously, and unlawfully interfered with, frustrated, and defeated that expectancy 
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by intentionally misreporting on their Form 4 77 s that they were able to provide ( or were providing) 

broadband in the Overlap Area at a speed sufficient to render that area ineligible for CAF funding. 

60. Defendants knew that the interference was certain or substantially certain to occur

as a result of their actions, and defendants had knowledge of the consequences of their acts. 

61. These misrepresentations directly and proximately caused the FCC to determine

that it would not provide A-CAM II funding to plaintiff to service that area. Defendants knew that 

their misrepresentations were certain or substantially certain to interfere with plaintiffs business 

expectancy. But for defendants' interference, plaintiff would have received the CAF funding to 

service the Overlap Area. Defendants' unlawful interference with plaintiffs legitimate business 

expectancy proximately caused plaintiff financial harm in an amount in excess of $20 million. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Fraud) 

62. Plaintiff here adopts and incorporates by reference each and every preceding

paragraph, fact, and allegation as if each were here fully set forth. 

63. The Form 477s submitted by defendants in connection with the A-CAM II offering

contained statements of fact which were untrue and which defendants knew to be untrue. 

Alternatively, and at an absolute minimum, defendants were reckless in the statements they made. 

64. Defendants' statements were made with the intent, purpose, and design of deceiving

the FCC so that the FCC would believe that defendants were able to provide services in the Overlap 

Area at a speed sufficient, thus rendering that area ineligible for CAP funding and harming 

plaintiff. 

65. Defendants' statements were made for the unlawful, improper, and fraudulent

purpose of inducing the FCC to deny funding to plaintiff. The FCC reasonably relied on these 

misrepresentations and was, in fact, caused and induced thereby to withhold CAP funding from 
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plaintiff, directly and proximately harming plaintiff and causing it to lose an amount in excess of 

$20 million. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Unfair Competition) 

66. Plaintiff here adopts and incorporates by reference each and every preceding

paragraph, fact, and allegation as if each were here fully set forth. 

67. Defendants' misconduct of intentionally misstating its broadband capabilities to the

FCC, and thereby preventing plaintiff from receiving CAP funding to subsidize its services in the 

Overlap Area, constitutes grossly unfair competition, including interference with a business 

expectancy and fraud, in violation of the Communications Act and the common law. 

68. Defendants' misconduct was willful, wanton and malicious in that it was done

intentionally, unlawfully, and with the purpose of causing plaintiff harm. Defendants' misconduct 

did, as defendants intended, directly and proximately cause plaintiff to suffer substantial haim and 

damages in excess of $20 million. 

PRAYERS FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff seek a judgment against defendants, jointly and severally, as 

follows: 

a. for monetary compensatory damages in excess of $20 million, the precise amount to be

determined at trial; 

b. for common law and statutory (SDCL § 21-3-2) punitive damages in an amount to be

determined at trial; 

c. for pre- and post-judgment interest;

d. for attorneys' fees and costs; and
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e. for such further and additional relief as the Court deems just and proper

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of any issue of fact triable of right by a jury. 

Dated: April 14, 2020 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Darla Pollman Rogers 
Riter Rogers, LLP 
319 S. Coteau St. 
Pierre, SD 57501 
(605) 224-5825 - Phone
(605) 224-7102 - Facsimile
dprogers@riterlaw.com

Ari S. Casper 
Ralph S. Tyler 
The Casper Firm, LLC 
400 E. Pratt Street, Suite 903 
Baltimore, MD 21202 
(410) 989-5097 - Phone
( 410) 630-7776 - Facsimile
acasper@casperfirm.com
(to be admitted pro hac vice)
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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